Gulf of Alaska Plan Team Minutes

The meeting of the Gulf of Alaska groundfish Plan Team convened on November 17th, 2008 at 9am at the Alaska Fishery Science Center, Seattle, WA. Members of the GOA plan Team in attendance included:

Jim Ianelli NOAA/AFSC REFM (GOA co-chair)

Diana Stram
Sandra Lowe

Jeff Fujioka
Jon Heifetz

NPFMC (GOA co-chair)
NOAA AFSC REFM
NOAA AFSC ABL
NOAA AFSC ABL

Nancy Friday NMML Cleo Brylinsky ADF&G Tom Pearson NOAA AKRO

Nick Sagalkin ADF&G

Mike Dalton NOAA AFSC REFM

Leslie Slater USFWS

Paul Spencer NOAA AFSC REFM

Yuk. W. Cheng WDFW

Team members Sarah Gaichas (NOAA AFSC REFM), Ken Goldman (ADF&G), Steven Hare (IPHC) and Bob Foy (NOAA AFSC RACE) were absent. Approximately 10 state and agency staff and members of the public also attended. Names of attendees are included in the Joint Plan Team minutes.

The revised agenda for the meeting is included in the Joint Plan Team minutes.

Introductions

The Gulf of Alaska Team welcomed new members Nancy Friday, Paul Spencer, Mike Dalton, and Henry Cheng (jointly with the BSAI Team). The Team reviewed summary section assignments and the process for turning in summaries for revision throughout the week.

GOA Pollock

Martin Dorn presented an overview of the GOA Pollock assessment. New data included catch at age from the fishery, Shelikof Strait acoustic survey data and other acoustic survey data evaluated in aggregate, ADF&G survey data, age composition from the 2007 NMFS bottom trawl survey, and the vessel comparison study between the Miller Freeman and Oscar Dyson.

Nick Sagalkin questioned whether young of year pollock are picked up at all in surveys. Martin indicated that they occur infrequently, but the FOCI forecast is for young of the year pollock (but these predictions have not changed from average in recent years).

The Team discussed the PSC bycatch estimates for the pollock fishery. Julie noted that problems inherent in the 2007 Chinook estimate relating to the extrapolation procedure employed that resulted in a high estimate in that year. She noted that the Council will be considering changes to the service delivery model for deploying observers in the GOA in December. Henry suggested that uncertainty estimates (confidence bounds) be added to these numbers. The Team noted that this would need to occur at the inseason management level, however, as estimates reported in the assessment are from the Regional Office, not estimates made by the assessment author.

2007 catch at age by area and season showed marked differences in the age of catch between the winter fishery and the summer/fall fishery. There are indications of a strong age-2 year class from the catch data in the second half of the year.

Henry Cheng questioned to what extent changes in maturity could be influenced by changes in bottom water temperature. Martin indicated he has not looked into that aspect specifically but that this could merit further evaluation.

Sandra Lowe questioned to what extent the egg production biomass dataset influences model results. Martin indicated that it probably only impacts results close to the time period (1981-1992) that it was utilized and has limited influence on model results at present.

The assessment evaluates the treatment of results from the Miller Freeman versus Oscar Dyson vessel comparison experiment. The Team discussed methodologies for alternative measures for incorporating vessel comparison information. While Martin selected approach #4, incorporating results directly in the log likelihood of the assessment model without a process error term, he noted that there was limited difference between all of the approaches and any modifications could be made easily in next year's assessment.

There was a major change in the estimated age composition in 2008 relative to the previous assessment. The age-4 pollock (2004 year class) is now estimated to be one-half as abundant. Since recent spawning biomass is now lower, fishing mortality estimated to be closer to the OFL fishing mortality threshold than previously believed. Since ABCs are based on the down-sloping portion of the harvest control rule, minor changes in stock size can produce dramatic changes in ABC recommendations.

The Team discussed the change in projections from last year's assessment, which had indicated that 2008 would be the minimum in spawning stock biomass, with an increase projected for 2009 and subsequently. In this year's assessment, the 2009 estimate is similar to 2008, and the projections indicate an increase after this year.

ABC recommendations

The Team endorsed the author's recommended ABC and OFLs for 2009 and 2010 noting the ABC recommendation incorporates added precaution over the use of the point estimate of the model and the maximum permissible F_{ABC} by fixing trawl catchability at 1.0 and applying a more conservative harvest rate than the maximum permissible F_{ABC} . These risk-averse elements reduce the recommended ABC to approximately 54% of the model point estimate.

The GHL for PWS is 1650 t, thus the final 2009 ABC = 41,620 and 2010 ABC =66,050. Julie Bonney requested clarification on the relative differences in pollock backscatter between the Miller Freeman vs. Oscar Dyson in the GOA as compared to the Bering Sea. She was concerned that the calibration factor will be fixed and that the Dyson is likely to become noisier over time. Taina Honkalehto noted that the Dyson's noise profile will be monitored over the years.

Southeast Alaska assessment:

A Tier 5 calculation is employed for the Southeast Alaska portion of the stock.

Allocation to area

The winter allocation is modified this year by applying a multiplier from the vessel comparison between the Miller Freeman and the Oscar Dyson. Different values are employed for Shelikof Strait (1.13) and the Shumagin and Sanak regions (1.31). This procedure shifts some percentage of the catch into 610 and out of 620. This is a transitional step until the four most recent surveys are all done by the Dyson.

The Team discussed the authors recommended approaches for incorporating the vessel comparison data. Jim noted the inconsistency in the use of 1.13 in the allocation scheme, while 1.12 is the estimated OD:MF ratio in the assessment based on the author's recommended approach.

The Team approved the author's recommended apportionment scheme for the ABC.

The Team discussed the change in specifications as recommended now for 2009 with respect to what is currently specified to open the fishery in 2009 (as specified last year). NMFS staff indicated that inseason actions can often be taken to mitigate against changes from one year to the next without having to take emergency rule action. The change from the proposed rule (as specified from the proposed specs in October) to the final specifications can ideally be taken care of without the need for modification in proposed and final rulemaking.

Julie requested a more realistic short-term projections of stock status (2-5 years) in the current specifications process. In recent years the one-year projected ABC has been low, while the two-year out provides a much more optimistic prediction of harvest, yet this has not been borne out in recent years. Martin noted the difficulty in projecting forward under the time frame scenarios as required for stock status determination. The Team discussed other possible means to evaluate status determination scenarios in a more realistic manner than the current projections.

Team members discussed the higher prevalence of 2 year olds in the catch in recent years. Beth Stewart noted that this catch was not desirable but was unavoidable. The public noted that this would be different if the fishery were rationalized as they would have a greater ability to avoid a specific year class. The Team discussed the increased ability of the fleet to stand down from undesirable fishing situations under a rationalized system.

Requests for additional considerations in the next assessment include:

- 1-Estimate Q.
- 2-Reevaluate bottom trawl selectivity
- 3-Start model at age -1 rather than age-2 (to allow for better treatment of recruitment than currently)
- 4-Incorporate ADF&G information on PWS as available.

GOA Pacific cod (specifications only)

Note for discussion of the Pacific cod assessment model please see the Joint Plan Team minutes. The Team noted that the assessment is very complex and there are some specific concerns with model specificity and configuration. The Team's primary concerns regarding the model are the following:

- 1. Fits to the survey time series.
- 2. The age composition sample size needs to be decreased in order to fit the length data. There appears to be an inconsistency between data sets in the assessment.
- 3. Age-specific selectivity

The Team requests the assessment include a specific discussion of selectivity outside of the discussion of the model. For example, does the available information on habitat use of Pacific cod, the response to fishing gear, seasonal or ontogentic changes in distributions, changes in natural mortality with age, etc. help explain the selectivity patterns obtained from the model? The Team questioned to what extent the software being employed is limiting the ability to address many issues in the assessment.

The Team had extensive discussions of several model issues. The model does not allow for any catch over age 12. There is a fundamental inconsistency between the size and age compositions from the survey and the biomass from the survey. Thus, the author downweights the age composition data to fit the trend better. Both size and age data have to be downweighted substantially however to fit the observed survey data.

The Team discussed future work on the model and the use of the model for specifications this year. A version of the model was first presented last year but not used for specifications purposes. The model

was next presented in September of 2008. Concerns remain regarding model configuration and specification. The Team discussed the two options of 1-recommending the preferred assessment model (i.e. Model B) for specifications, or 2- employing a Tier 5 calculation as last year.

Julie Bonney requested clarification on why the ABC is so low and how to justify this as reasonable given the expressed concerns by the Team regarding the model and its use for specification purposes.

The Team discussed general trends in survey biomass and model predictions of trends. The further we move from the survey, the less reasonable it seems to base the quota on the survey estimate (as was done last year), as opposed to reliance on a model which incorporates a significant amount of additional data.

After much discussion, the Team provisionally accepted the use of Model B as recommended by the assessment author for specification purposes this year. The Team would like to see additional examination of the selectivity patterns and other issues as noted regarding model configuration. Grant noted that he would like to continue to include both selectivity at age and length in the model.

The Team accepted the authors recommended ABC and OFLs for both 2009 and 2010. The Team reiterates the need for a survey for this stock given the uncertainty surrounding the 2006 year class. For this stock in particular, the absence of additional information leads to increased conservatism in stock management. The uncertainty regarding the incoming year class warrants the need for the additional incremental decrease in the 2010 specifications. There is a great deal of uncertainty in the size of the 2006 year class. This would be the highest recorded year class for this stock since 1976. Grant noted that there has been only limited instances for this stock of year classes initially estimated as strong than did not pan out (in contrast to GOA Pollock, pollock where the magnitude of this situation estimated). The uncertainty regarding the incoming year class seems to warrant the need for an incremental decrease in the 2010 specifications until further information on the strength of the 2006 year class is more common), available.

Flatfish

All flatfish assessments are on an off-year cycle due to the lack of survey data in this assessment cycle. Thus each assessment is an executive summary with full assessments planned for next year.

Deepwater flatfish

Buck Stockhausen presented an overview of the deepwater flatfish assessment. This assessment is also on an off-year schedule thus catches were updated and the projections run for the 2009 and 2010 specifications. Of the deep water flatfish (DWF) species only Dover sole is a Tier 3 species (all others are Tier 6 thus specifications are rolled over from 2008). Fishery size composition data is lacking and may compromise the ability to estimate fishery selectivity. It is unclear as to whether or not this is related to a lack of catch of this species or observer protocols which are not emphasizing this species for sampling purposes. Team members noted that this should be highlighted to the observer program to ensure adequate data is being collected for the assessment.

The Team approved the author's recommended ABCs and OFLs for 2009 and 2010.

Flathead sole

Buck Stockhausen presented an overview of the flathead sole assessment. This assessment is also on an off-year schedule thus catches were updated and the projections run for the 2009 and 2010 specifications. This stock is also lightly fished however catch trends continue to increase, primarily in the CGOA. Size composition data indicates some evidence of recruitment.

The Team approved the author's recommended ABCs and OFLs for 2009 and 2010.

Rex sole

Buck Stockhausen presented an overview of the rex sole assessment. This assessment is also on an off-year schedule thus catches were updated and the projections run for the 2009 and 2010 specifications. Here the biomass is estimated using the projection model but specifications are set using a Tier 5 calculation on the adult biomass from the projection model (rather than the survey estimates). Size composition data indicates some evidence of recruitment.

The Team approved the author's recommended ABCs and OFLs for 2009 and 2010.

Shallow water flatfish

Jack Turnock provided an overview of the shallow water flatfish assessment. This assessment is also on an off-year schedule. These are Tier 4 and 5 species thus ABCs and OFLs are based on survey biomass estimates and are not updated until there is new data to incorporate. Thus specifications this year are a simple rollover from last year.

The Team approved the author's recommended ABCs and OFLs for 2009 and 2010.

Arrowtooth flounder

Jack Turnock provided an overview of the shallow water flatfish assessment. This assessment is also on an off-year schedule thus catches were updated and the projections run for the 2009 and 2010 specifications.

The Team approved the author's recommended ABCs and OFLs for 2009 and 2010.

GOA rockfish

Kalei Shotwell presented an overview of the GOA rockfish assessments. All GOA rockfish are on a biennial assessment cycle and in off-survey years only an executive summary of the full assessment is provided. This is an off-year for these assessments.

Pacific ocean perch

Total catch was less than expected from 2007-2008. Catch is always less than the ABC due to the underharvested amount from the EYAK/Southeast area. The ABC is slightly higher than last year's 2009 projection.

Julie Bonney requested clarification regarding data gaps and future research, and specifically what model specifications are going to be evaluated in the next assessment. Dana Hanselman replied that a PhD student currently working on evaluating best means to estimate sample size weighting and ages and lengths. This will be applicable for all rockfish models. Julie commented that the catch of POP was difficult to control this season as catch levels at times were so high that there was a fear of exceeding CQ caps in-season. Members of the public questioned the relatively low ABCs when anecdotal evidence from the fishery indicates that abundance is very high right now. There is also evidence of POP aggregations in areas where the fishery has not previously fished. The concerns of exceeding CQ caps led to an actual underharvest of catch this year. The Team noted that this calls further attention to the necessity for a GOA trawl survey. If there is no survey next year as well then there will be further projections based on dated survey information and increased uncertainty on the assessment.

Martin Dorn questioned the perception of stability and strength of recruitment and why it is considered to be stable and strong. Kalei noted that recruitment is based on model estimates and trends consistent with trawl survey results. The Team questioned the impact on this assessment if there were no survey next year. There would likely be a full assessment produced by authors but with limited additional information to include. It was commented that the national initiative for annual catch limits (ACLs)

prescribed that as information decreases then the additional uncertainty will likely result in more conservative management measures.

The Team agreed to include a paragraph in the SAFE report to address concerns if the planned GOA survey is cancelled. They noted that it is unlikely that national guidance will be available in 2009 regarding ACLs and how uncertainty would be explicitly incorporated. The Team discussed whether full assessments or executive summaries would be required in the event of a cancelled survey. The Team noted that new fishery information might be available for some stocks, such as fishery ages or other biological information. The 2008 Aleutian survey was cancelled full assessments were still completed and submitted in that year, thus it is likely full assessments would be required in the GOA as well.

Team members requested clarification on the dichotomy between survey and model biomass estimates. Kalei noted that this is due to the expansion of survey results in the model whereby the model is not accounting for them due potentially to herding issues and difficulty in trawling all areas. She noted that this is the focus of on-going trawlable versus untrawlable research.

The Team approved the recommended ABCs and OFLs for 2009 and 2010.

Northern rockfish

Updated 2007 and 2008 catch total catch were less than expected previously. There has been low recruitment observed in recent years. Jim Ianelli questioned the persistent catch below the TAC levels in recent years. Julie Bonney noted that the POP fishery and coop structure provides a limiting factor on all rockfish catch.

The Team approved the recommended ABCs and OFLs for 2009 and 2010.

Rougheye and blackspotted rockfish

The authors proposed a new chapter name for the rougheye rockfish complex which includes both rougheye and blackspotted rockfish species. Updated catch was included in this executive summary and projections. As with other rockfish species, total catch was less than expected. The assessment highlights research needs for accurate and verified species identification. Preliminary results of 2-day experiment to compare species identification are provided in the assessment chapter. The results indicated a high misidentification of blackspotted rockfish. Reliable identification is necessary for these species prior to development of a rationale for mixed species assessment.

The Team discussed to what extent at-sea genetic identification methods could be used for these species, for example using single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP). In particular, improved species identification of these species is critical for the surveys. The Team expressed concerns regarding the misidentification of blackspotted rockfish in past surveys and the possibility that results from 2007 are compromised by the misidentification issues between these two species. The Team reiterated their concern that no species should be reported separately in the survey database until reliable criteria for their identification are developed.

The Team approved the recommended ABCs and OFLs for 2009 and 2010.

Pelagic shelf rockfish

Dark, widow and yellowtail rockfish are in Tier 5 thus no updated information (other than catch data) is available in this off-year and ABCs for these species are simply rolled over from 2007 estimates. Dusky rockfish are in Tier 3 and updated catch is included in a new projection. Thus the total ABC is slightly higher than last year due to the increase from dusky rockfish. Dark rockfish are slated to be turned over to the State for full management with a final rule package prepared but not yet implemented, thus

specifications are made for the complex in this cycle both with and without the inclusion of dark rockfish. Implementation of the final rule should be roughly similar to the timing of the final specifications.

Identification problems persist with catch accounting for all of these species. Julie Bonney noted that there are species identification problems at the processing plants between dusky, dark, northern, black and blue rockfish. One component of the northern rockfish is apparently visually very similar to dark rockfish. Craig Faust (Observer Program) reiterated the difficulty of observer identification between other species as well. Nick Sagalkin noted that the State has had difficulty with black rockfish identification where darks have been misidentified as black rockfish. This is potentially complicated by market considerations for black rockfish from the jig fishery whereby they command higher prices than dark rockfish thus an incentive exists to incorrectly identify them on fish tickets.

Jon Heifetz noted that it would be useful to determine what percentage of fish are misidentified by visual markings versus genetic identification. Julie Bonney commented that from the experience of the rockfish pilot program (RPP), sampling at plants is an improvement over onboard sampling. Nick reiterated that the State is also grappling with identification of species at delivery, and is currently using an ad hoc sampling method by State observers for species identification verification. The observer program has noted problems as well, including observers being placed in an enforcement role versus a plant observer role, and the difficulty in ascertaining appropriate sample fractions for each offload.

Staff from the observer program and the State discussed their intent to share techniques for species identification. Nick commented that the GHLs for black rockfish are very small and fisheries and areas could be shut down due to trawl bycatch thus highlighting the importance of this issue if rockfish are misidentified. There is also the possibility that there is a higher biomass of dark rockfish offshore than previously believed. This could prove problematic in management of this species and resulting bycatch in the federal fishery. The Team commented that management and assessment of state rockfish species needs to be expanded.

The Team approved the recommended ABCs and OFLs for 2009 and 2010.

Shortraker and other slope

All of the species in this complex are in Tier 5 with the exception of sharpchin rockfish which is in Tier 4. Thus, specifications for these species are rolled over from the previous year. There are no directed fisheries for shortraker and other slope rockfish.

Rockfish assessments (general overview of response to SSC comments)

All assessments per SSC request include catch distribution maps to show spatial distribution of catch. The Team discussed to what extent catch distribution displays are influenced by observer coverage (100% in CGOA under RPP). Julie Bonney noted that it would be useful to look at the distribution of POP and northern harvests versus dusky rockfish to see where harvests overlap.

Dana Hanselman provided an overview of appendix A to the POP assessment (per GOA plan Team request) regarding the rockfish ABC apportionment method which is based on weighted averages of biomass by region from the 3 most recent surveys. He compared apportionments using either biomass or proportions of biomass in each year under different regional stock trend scenarios. In most instances the differences were minimal between methods. The only time there is a difference is when relative biomass by area is trending differently by year between regions. In those instances apportionments based solely on the weighted average of biomass (rather than proportion) imparts greater error than apportionments based on the relative proportion of biomass by region.

If the management goal is for more harvest in areas where biomass is increasing then the biomass-based method would be preferable, however, if the goal is to be more conservative in areas where biomass is decreasing then the proportion-based method would be preferable.

The Team did not see any compelling reason at this time to modify the current methodology for apportionment.

Survey discussion for GOA

The Team discussed the importance of a continued survey in the GOA and the possibility that no survey will be conducted in 2009 due to limited funding. The Team reiterates their comments below from the September joint plan Team meeting regarding the critical importance of this survey in assessment and management of GOA groundfish.

The Plan Teams are concerned that a reduction in the number and duration of NOAA surveys will negatively impact Alaska fishery stock assessments. NOAA surveys are an integral part of these assessments. These surveys are conducted annually or biennially and provide important time series of information on ichthyoplankton, fish and shellfish.

NOAA surveys were reduced in 2008 relative to previous years. In 2008, the Aleutian Islands bottom trawl survey was eliminated and the Bering Sea surface trawl survey (BASIS) was reduced by about two thirds. Further reductions may occur in 2009. These reductions would significantly impact Alaska fishery stock assessments and our ability to estimate stock condition and recommend catch quotas. Continuation of the standardized NOAA surveys is necessary for the successful management of Alaska groundfish and shellfish fisheries and to reduce uncertainty. As uncertainty increases, generally risk-averse strategies require further reductions in harvests.

Demersal shelf rockfish

Cleo Brylinsky presented an overview of the executive summary of the DSR assessment. This is an off-year for the DSR assessment.

One notable change from last year's assessment is in the treatment of average weight data. Prior to 2008, average weight data was from the directed fishery only. In 2008, these data are from the IPHC survey and for 2009 will come from a combination of directed fishery weights (for the two management areas with directed fisheries) and incidental catch in the halibut fishery. She noted that it is difficult to use submersible survey data to assess average weight for yelloweye rockfish. She noted that halibut survey average weights were not available this year but will be employed in the assessment next year.

Team members made suggestions on ways to utilize the available submersible survey to improve estimates of weight and size in the assessment. Paul Spencer suggested categorizing size of fish from the submersible survey in terms of large, medium, and small fish. Jon Heifetz suggested taking a subsample of lengths only from nearby fish and assume random sample. However, he noted that if smaller rockfish are likely to exhibit avoidance from submersible then this estimate would be biased. Average weight can also be biased high due to hook sizes used in halibut survey and fishery.

The Plan Team approved the authors recommended ABC and OFLs for 2009 and 2010.

Thornyheads

Sandra Lowe provided an overview of the thornyhead rockfish assessment. This assessment is also on an off-year cycle hence only an executive summary was prepared. This is another species for which the GOA trawl survey in 2009 is extremely important. It is also critical that the survey includes deeper strata specifically for this species as they tend to locate in deepest strata on survey.

Specifications for this species are a rollover from last year. The Plan Team approved the authors recommended ABC and OFLs for 2009 and 2010.

Atka Mackerel

Sandra Lowe provided an overview of the Atka mackerel executive summary assessment. This remains a Tier 6 stock. She noted that 2008 catch is nearly 590 tons over the TAC, and significant catches were taken in areas 610 and 620. The RPP is contributing to increased catch and discards of Atka mackerel given the ability of CPs in the program to remain in 610 to target rockfish after the POP fishery closes.

Julie Bonney commented that 1500 tons was intended to meet incidental catch needs based on the amount taken in the rockfish fishery. Julie noted that the increased catch could be due to either increased incidental catch needs or increased topping off. Beth Stewart commented that anecdotal evidence from other fisheries indicated an increased abundance as people are reporting catching Atka mackerel while seining and set netting for salmon.

Mike Syzmanski commented that fishermen believe that the abundance is much higher than previously thought. The Team has historically made TAC recommendations for Atka mackerel based on increased incidental catch needs in the rockfish fishery. Directed fishing for atka is prohibited due to SSL regulations.

The increased catch in 2008 led to a higher proportion of discards, approximately 50% in 2008. Mike noted that the restrictive MRA is also driving these discards. Mary Furuness noted that any change (i.e. increase) in TAC would not have necessarily impacted the amount of discards. The Team discussed the reasons for the increased catch in 2008, including vessels ability to remain in the area under both the RPP and Amendment 80, as well as potentially increased abundance of Atka mackerel resulting in higher bycatch levels.

The Team has previously discussed the need to allow for sufficient bycatch of Atka mackerel so as not to constrain other fisheries while still discouraging targeting of this species. The Team discussed incidental catch needs and the need to increase the TAC recommendation to allow for this. The Team suggests that a 2009 harvest level of 2000 tons may be sufficient to allow for increased incidental catch need.

The Team approved the authors recommendations for OFL and ABCs for 2009 and 2010.

Skates

Olaf Ormseth presented an overview of the skate assessment. This is an off-year for skates so it is an executive summary of the assessment this year. There is no new survey information thus specifications for these species are rollovers from last year.

Bycatch in the IFQ halibut fishery remains problematic. This is a similar problem with dogfish bycatch in the halibut fishery. Tom Pearson commented that currently given high estimates of bycatch in the halibut fishery there is no directed skate fishery allowed. Cindy Tribuzio is working to obtain estimates for shark species bycatch in the halibut fishery. The Team discussed the continuing problem with estimating bycatch from the halibut fishery. Cleo suggested requesting logbook data to evaluate depth at which they are fishing to obtain additional information for bycatch estimation. The halibut commission does not consider that the survey bycatch information is appropriate to extrapolate to the commercial fleet but she noted that logbook data can be used from the fleet.

The Team discussed whether or not skates caught in the halibut fishery are discarded. Tom noted that many anecdotal reports indicate that they are discarded. Chris Lunsford indicated that commercial

fishermen are starting to retain them as the price for whole skates and skate wings is increasing. Skates are processed onboard.

The State of Alaska is planning to open a skate fishery in PWS. This fishery will be opened in Orca Bay near Cordova. Ken Goldman and Charlie Trowbridge are working to establish guidelines for the fishery. This population is not an assessed portion of PWS thus the catch would not come off the federal TAC.

The Team reiterates their concerns regarding assessment and management of this stock in light of a potential directed fishery in PWS. The following is excerpted from the September 2008 GOA Plan Team minutes:

The Plan Team expressed concern regarding the prosecution of a state waters skate fishery in the absence of any information on the stock. Skates may be vulnerable to over-fishing and if bycatch rates are high in the halibut fishery, added conservation measures may be warranted. This was based on the experience of recent skate management actions in federal waters where high bycatch levels in the halibut fishery precluded the prosecution of a directed fishery in federal waters.

If a directed fishery develops, the Team would like to investigate to what extent this catch should come off the federal TAC. This should be a consideration in the assessment of this stock particularly to what extent it is a single stock in comparison to the GOA stocks including species by species analysis. An index of abundance is necessary for any indication of appropriate harvest thresholds for this stock. The Team expressed concern about the amount of effort that could possibly be involved in this fishery based on current effort in the PWS halibut fishery and the inability of the state to limit entry to this fishery using a commissioner's permit.

The Team requested that if a model is being employed for Tier 3 specifications for skates in the Bering Sea then this should be discussed in the GOA as well. It is possible that Tier 5 may not be sufficiently conservative for this stock. Data on age structure in the GOA is being collected. Beth Matta provided an overview of ongoing maturity studies and age structured data. Fishery data in the GOA is still limited thus assessment authors have not yet moved forward with modeling skate populations in the GOA as with the BSAI. Species identification remains problematic. Length data is also lacking.

The Team suggested including estimates of area-specific ABCs and OFLs for other skates in the next year's assessment. It would be useful to compare these estimates by area with catches by area.

The Team encouraged working with Cindy Tribuzio and other assessment authors (sharks, skates, DSR, cod) to evaluate means of estimating bycatch in the halibut fishery.

The Plan Team approved the author's recommended ABCs for 2009 and 2010. The Team continues to recommend GOA-wide OFLs for these stocks however rather than the author's recommendations for area-specific OFLs.

The Team requested that if time allows in September that a joint assessment presentation be given to the joint Teams on both the BSAI assessment for skates and GOA assessment for skates.

Other species

The GOA FMP has now been amended to allow for aggregate specifications to be set for the other species complex. As with the BSAI, separate species-specific assessments and specification recommendations are considered by the Team with the resulting ABCs and OFLs summed to form the aggregate complex-level specifications. While this is the first year of separate specifications for other species in the GOA, draft assessments were presented last year and included as appendices to the GOA SAFE report thus some of the assessment are presented in the context of updates from the previous assessment.

Sharks

Jon Heifetz presented an overview of the GOA sharks assessment. Updated catch data for 2008 and biomass estimates for 2007 were included. The authors recommend a Tier 6 approach using average catch over a specified time period not the maximum catch approach as recommended previously. The authors also recommended expanding the timeline for average catch calculations to include 2007 in order to have a longer time series of catch data.

Shark catch declined in 2008 dramatically. The Team discussed the possibility of modest directed fishery for all other species combined on the order of 500 t.

Cindy Tribuzio reviewed the biological parameters included in the assessment. Team members questioned some of the terminology and indications of these parameters. She explained that 'rebound' is an indication of the population growth rate, which for spiny dogfish means that it has potential to grow at 3.4 % in an unfished population. Team members requested clarification on why the Fmax for salmon shark is larger than intrinsic growth rate? It appears that 0.012 is too low. Cindy checked on this and noted that Salmon shark have a much lower annual fecundity and reproductive potential, thus a slower potential population growth rate.

The authors noted that Tier 5 estimates could be calculated using the last three surveys but this approach is not recommended at this time due to lack of confidence in the biomass estimates and that natural mortality estimates only exist for spiny dogfish and salmon shark. Spiny dogfish could be considered as a Tier 5 species in the future with remaining sharks as tier 6.

The authors and Team expressed concerns with the unobserved halibut fishery catch which could represent significantly increased catch of sharks. The Team discussed directed fisheries for sharks in other parts of potential range. Cindy noted there are targeted fisheries in Japan and BC. There is some indication of interest in Alaska for directed fishing, and some permits issued but not active in the last few years. The setnet fishery in Yakutat can retain up to 100% of landings as dogfish while the hook and line fishery can retain up to 35% of landings. The Team reiterated concerns regarding the vulnerability of sharks to overfishing.

Team members discussed information availability on stock structure for sharks. Jon commented that assumed stock structure is based on work in other regions which may not be best representative of the North Pacific as these regions have bays with more resident type fish while the larger North Pacific population may be more migratory. The assessment assumes a closed population, but this may not be the case and further research needs to be done to evaluate estimates of stock structure and migration. The Team recommendation further research on stock structure and a better evaluation of the incidental catch of sharks in the halibut fishery.

Plan Team recommendations

The Plan Team concurs with the author's recommendations for Tier 6 using average catch over the longer time period 97-07 for ABC and OFL considerations.

Tom Pearson noted that if sharks were standalone species for specifications this would not be advisable as this would be a constraining to other fisheries unnecessarily. Currently they remain aggregated within the remaining other species complex.

The Team recommends continued work on evaluating Tier 5 assessment for spiny dogfish and sleeper sharks in next year's assessment.

Squid

Olaf Ormseth presented the overview of squid assessment. The assessment focuses on a discussion of squid as important prey item. Predation of squid likely depends on species and life stage of species. Abundance is poorly sampled, with biomass estimates highly variable and likely represent underestimates. Squid catch has been generally low but there was a very high recorded catch in 2006 primarily in the pollock fishery. The highest catches are in 620. The Team discussed the potential for higher catches in February and March. Julie Bonney commented that absent rationalization in the GOA, the ability to respond quickly to these pulse catch situations is compromised.

The Team noted problems with Tier 5 specifications for squid, specifically poor biomass estimates, and very high mortality rate estimates. More reasonable alternative estimates for M should be explored. The Team discussed different F options including the NW Atlantic where the F rate is applied as a monthly reference fishing mortality.

The Team discussed the intent of Tier 5 in that it implies the existence of reliable biomass estimates. Should Tier 5 be recommended for a species with poor biomass estimates from the survey? Olaf noted that problems exist with management at both Tiers 5 and 6. While noting that biomass estimates are not perfect, he characterized them as reliable for purposes of minimum biomass estimates. Tier 6 is very problematic due to short catch history which does not reflect productivity and results in very low ABCs.

ABC recommendations

The Team notes that the author's recommendation includes consideration of balancing conservation and management objectives. The Team discussed the problem with potentially codifying the use of three most recent surveys for biomass estimates and the difficulty using older biomass estimates from surveys given the life history characteristics and short lifespan. The Team discussed using only the most recent survey instead of an average over several surveys.

Paul Spencer commented on evaluating sampling variability in conjunction with the time frame for survey inclusion. He suggested the use of a weighted average for surveys. The Team discussed Option 1 in the assessment which uses an Fofl=0.25 and the Option 2 decay function and how this is solved by replacing F with M.

Specifications discussion

The Team had extensive discussion of the different specifications resulting from Tier 5 or Tier 6 management. The Team was uncomfortable with the use of Tier 5 biomass estimates but also discomforted by the ABCs and OFLs which result from Tier 6 due to the nature of the incidental catch included. The Team notes that if Tier 6 had a higher ABC and OFL then would be more comfortable. Team members questioned the differential biomass estimate reliability in the Bering Sea than the GOA. Olaf noted that the EBS shelf survey is arguably worse for squid than the GOA survey and biomass estimates in the GOA tend to be more reliable than in the Bering Sea.

While the Team agreed with the author's approaches, the Team was not comfortable with either the biomass estimates or the prescribed F_{OFL} since this value by definition should be prescribed by the Tier system itself as a result of tier determination. The Team was uncomfortable with Tier 5 determination despite the potential constraining aspect to the Tier 6 ABC and OFL.

The Team therefore recommends Tier 6 determination for squid species. The Team then had extensive discussion of multiple approaches to estimate an appropriate catch level for the ABC and OFL. The Team thought that the prescribed average catch under Tier 6 was inappropriate. Alternatives discussed included the following:

- 1. maximum catch rather than average catch
- 2. 25% exploitation rate applied to average biomass levels

3. 3 year moving catch average rather than maximum catch

The Team recommended the use of #1, the maximum catch level for the OFL over the time period given that additional information is available to suggest that current catch levels are not compromising the stock. This would lead to an OFL of ~1500 and ABC of 75%OFL. The Team thinks this would represent an interim approach and the Team encourages further development of alternative management for squid understanding that the current tier system is not appropriate to current management of this species.

Discussion of alternatives for squid management

The Team discussed alternative management possibilities for squid management given indications that the current Tier System is inadequate for squid management. Recommendations included the following: move squid into the forage fish category, time and area closures for squid, other alternative management measures. Some issues were noted with movement into forage fish category, notably the potential restriction of the 2% MRA and specific restrictions on processing. If moved to forage fish would need to consider MRA options and processing options.

Olaf noted that there is no upper limit on exploitation of squid and forage fish. Some additional considerations are to evaluate intensive management akin to the Japanese management of squid. There are possible concerns with localized depletion of the prey field but information is limited to determine this. Time area closures are difficult to enact and predict particularly when the timeframe for pulse of catch is very short. Olaf noted some problems with catch data which often comes back as unidentified squid thus difficult to determine if these are spawning aggregations. Some length information are available but not species identification.

Octopus

Liz Conners presented an overview of the Octopus assessment. This is an executive summary of the assessment given that there is no new survey information. The bottom trawl survey estimates do not represent reliable biomass estimates for this stock. If separate specifications were established for octopus it is highly likely that the Tier 6 specifications would be constraining, particularly for the Pacific cod pot fishery. The authors do not think that the average catch approach for octopus is appropriate, nor is Tier 5 justifiable given biological constraints.

Specifications discussion

The authors continued to recommend an alternative Tier 6 calculation using maximum catch. The Team notes this calculation represents an inconsistency with the approach chosen by the Team for Squid. For octopus, the assessment authors recommend a Tier 6 maximum catch calculation where the ABC is established as the maximum catch with the OFL established as a higher % value. The Team instead recommends a similar approach to squid with OFL as the maximum catch and the ABC as 75% of this OFL value. This leads to a recommended OFL =298 and an ABC of 224 t. This should also be considered as an interim measure given that our current tier system is not adequate to manage octopus.

The Team discussed to what extent octopus fits into the forage fish category. The Team does not recommend its inclusion in the forage fish category. The Team discussed the problems with processing under the forage fish processing ban. This species would be a good candidate for management by the State of Alaska solely but the State is not interested in sole management of this species. The majority of catch occurs in Federal waters due to incidental catch but biomass could be largely in State waters.

Liz commented on current and proposed research for octopus. She mentioned their NPRB proposal to evaluate reproductive seasons, habitat, pot gear and tagging and that this study might enable a better estimate for M for this species. This would enable some potential for moving towards a true Tier 5 management category for octopus. The Team encourages further research to move this species into a Tier 5 category.

The Team also encourages further development and consideration of the employment discard mortality rates for this species as presented at the September plan Team meeting, particularly given the potential for separate specifications for this species in the future.

Sculpins

Rebecca Reuter presented an overview of the sculpins assessment. Unlike the other species in this complex sculpin biomass estimates from the trawl survey are considered reliable. The authors note an increased catch of sculpins in the last year, primarily due to increased catch in the shallow water flatfish category. Beginning in 2008 catch by species is available from observer estimates. There is an incremental increase in percentage retained in recent years.

Specifications discussion

The authors recommend Tier 5 with a conservative aggregate species M estimate. She noted that in the Bering Sea species specific natural mortality is applied and the specifications then aggregated afterwards to the complex level. This information is not included in the GOA assessment this year.

The Team recommended using the aggregate M this year as presented in the assessment but that species specific natural mortality rates be included for consideration for next year.

The Team discussed the possibility of splitting sculpin specifications out by species in the future. Rebecca noted that these species are very variable in biological characteristics and that the complex also exhibits spatial variability and is diverse. Observer identification is considered good for the top 5 species in the catch data.

Forage Fish

Olaf Ormseth presented an overview of the forage fish assessment. The Team requested a full assessment for forage fish in this off-year scheduling in order to spend additional time discussing this assessment. Eulachon is the most frequently caught species in the category. Eulachon is a valuable prey species for Cook Inlet belugas as well. There are indications from various survey information of increased eulachon abundance in recent years.

Genetic stock identification work is not available yet for eulachon but work is on-going. Migration of eulachon from spawning regions is also unknown and aging eulachon is difficult. Ecosystem estimates indicate much higher abundance than survey indications. Capelin abundance estimates were also provided in the assessment.

The Team discussed the small mesh survey: Nick noted that there is an ADF&G and NMFS cooperative project to conduct small mesh survey with some funding provided by NMFS. This survey is very valuable in many respects both for indications of recruitment for many species as well as for indices of abundance for forage fish. The Team encourages the continuation of these surveys.

Management aspects of forage fish category:

The Team discussed current management of the forage fish category. The MRA 2% threshold was not based on estimates of sustainability but on accommodating existing incidental catch levels. MRA are on a trip basis. Julie noted that given current observer coverage in the GOA it would be impossible to have tow level accountability. The Team discussed the possibility of a floating MRA based on abundance and questioned how to modify processing restrictions should additional species (such as squid) be moved into this category. The Team recommends that these considerations be explicitly evaluated in any management amendment analysis for forage fish. The processing limitation may not be appropriate for squid. Anne Hollowed further noted that treatment of giant squid should be potentially different from other squid species in that they may not be appropriate for the forage fish category.

Dana Seagar (NOAA PR) commented that Cook Inlet eulachon stocks be further evaluated given the listing of the Cook Inlet belugas and the importance of eulachon as prey items. The Team continues to recommend inclusion of this assessment as an appendix to the SAFE report on an annual basis. The full extent of the assessment will depend upon availability of updated and new information.

Grenadiers

Jon Heifetz presented an overview of the grenadiers assessment. This assessment is included as an appendix to the SAFE report given that grenadiers are a non-specified species currently under the GOA (and BSAI) FMP. The assessment focuses on giant grenadiers. The assessment authors reiterate strongly the need to move the grenadiers back into the FMP to allow for managed status for this stock. This is the first year of good species identification and aging results for giant grenadier. The new estimate of maximum age is 58 years with a new mortality estimate of 0.078.

The majority of the catch comes from the GOA. Catch of giant grenadiers exceeds catch of all other species under FMP. Grenadiers are mostly caught in pot and longline fisheries.

The Team agrees with the authors recommendation for Tier 5 for this stock given reliable biomass estimates from the trawl surveys. The Team would like to see an option for region-specific ABCs and catches by region for grenadiers included in the next update of this assessment.

The Team notes that the authors think that grenadiers should be moved back into the FMP for management purposes. The Team agrees that this complex should be moved into the target categories such that separate specifications could be established for them. The Team reiterates previous requests that the analysis to move grenadiers into the FMP be listed as a priority for the Council for the GOA if not in both regions.